ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
SENATE EDUCATI ON STANDI NG COW TTEE
February 18, 2016
3:34 p.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Senator Charlie Huggins, Vice Chair
Senator Cathy G essel
Senator Gary Stevens
Senator Berta Gardner

MEMBERS ABSENT
Senat or M ke Dunl eavy, Chair
COW TTEE CALENDAR
SENATE BI LL NO 174
"An Act relating to the regulation of firearnms and knives by the
Uni versity of Al aska."
- HEARD & HELD
PREVI QUS COMM TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: SB 174

SHORT TI TLE. REG OF FI REARMS/ KNI VES BY UNIV. OF AK
SPONSOR(s): SENATOR(s) KELLY

02/ 08/ 16 (S READ THE FI RST Tl ME - REFERRALS
02/ 08/ 16 (S) EDC, JUD

02/ 16/ 16 (S) EDC AT 3: 30 PM BUTROVI CH 205

02/ 16/ 16 (S) Heard & Held

02/ 16/ 16 (S) M NUTE( EDC)

02/ 17/ 16 (S) JUD AT 1:30 PM BELTZ 105 (TSBI dg)
02/ 17/ 16 (S Schedul ed but Not Heard

02/ 18/ 16 (S) EDC AT 3: 30 PM BUTROVI CH 205

W TNESS REQ STER

CALLI E CONERTQN, Student Body President

Uni versity of Al aska- Sout heast

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 174.

LORA VESS, Assi stant Professor

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE -1- February 18, 2016



Uni versity of Al aska- Sout heast
Juneau, Al aska
PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in strong opposition to SB 174.

CCLI N OSTERHOUT, representing hinself
Juneau, Al aska
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 174.

PAUL SWETZOVF, representing hinself
Anchor age, Al aska
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SB 174.

DAVI D VEAVER, representing hinself
Anchor age, Anchor age
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 174.

GRANT REBNE, representing hinself
Anchor age, Al aska
PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SB 174.

RYEN- JASON HENE, representing hinself
Anchor age, Al aska
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 174.

GEORG A DEKEYSER, representing herself
Anchor age, Al aska
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in strong opposition to SB 174.

SANDI E G LLI LAND, representing herself
Sol dot na, Al aska
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SB 174.

STEPHANI E QUEEN, representing herself
Sol dot na, Al aska
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 174.

TOM BOUTI N, representing hinself
Juneau, Al aska
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SB 174.

KEI TH MALLARD, Chief of Police

University of Al aska Fairbanks

Fai r banks, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 174.

JON QUI NONES, St udent
Uni versity of Al aska- Fairbanks

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE - 2- February 18, 2016



Fai r banks, Al aska
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 174.

M KE COONS, representing hinself
Pal mer, Al aska
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SB 174.

RUSSELL NEVELL, representing hinself
Fai r banks, Al aska
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 174.

MAUREEN O HANLON, representing herself
Sitka, Al aska
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 174.

CYRUS COCPER, representing hinself
Heal y, Al aska
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SB 174.

Dl XI E HOOD, representing herself
Juneau, Al aska
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 174.

BRUCE SCHULTZ, Vice Chancellor, Student Affairs

Uni versity of Al aska- Anchorage

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 174.

ARNCLD LI EBELT, representing hinself
Dougl as, Al aska
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 174.

TI MOTHY ROBI NSON, representing hinself
Wasi |l a, Al aska
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 174.

MATTHEW OSTRANDER, representing hinsel f
Anchor age, Al aska
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 174.

JOE BYRNES, Staff

Representative Kell ey

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Provided information regarding SB 174.

MATT COOPER, General Counse

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE - 3- February 18, 2016



Uni versity of Al aska- Fairbanks
Fai r banks, Al aska
PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Addressed civil inmunity issues in SB 174.

JAMES SQUYRES, representing hinself
Del t ana, Al aska
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SB 174.

NEAL KOENEMAN, St udent

UAA

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 174.

HAYLEY CAVI TT, Student

UAA

Anchor age, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 174.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

3:34: 07 PM

VICE CHAIR HUGG NS called the Senate FEducation Standing
Commttee neeting to order at 3:34 p.m Present at the call to
order were Senators G essel, Stevens, and Vice Chair Huggins.
Senator Gardner arrived shortly thereafter.

SB 174- REG OF FI REARMS/ KNI VES BY UNI V. OF AK

3:34:53 PM

VICE CHAIR HUGA NS announced the consideration of SB 174. He
said the purpose of the neeting is to take public testinony.
Public testinmony will remain open after the neeting.

3:37:10 PM

CALLI E CONERTQN, Student Body President, University of Al aska-
Sout heast, testified in opposition to SB 174. She listed the
reasons why she opposes the bill. She said she trusts the
university to keep her safe wth their rules and policies
regardi ng concealed carry. She opined that the university is not
a place where a person needs access to a firearm Sone students
attending UAS are under 18 and are dually enrolled in high
school and in college. There are canpus tours for K-12 students
and student and staff with children.

She pointed out that Alaska has no required concealed carry

permts and there is no guarantee that a person knows the right
way to operate a firearm is in the right state of mnd, and has

SENATE EDC COW TTEE -4- February 18, 2016



had no crimnal convictions. GQuns in dorns provide easy access
to weapons by roommates and visitors who could operate the
firearm under the influence. The bill would not allow the
university to take guns away in risky circunstances. She said
she knows basic firearm safety and has friends who hunt, but she
would not feel safe if students could carry a firearns on
canpus.

VICE CHAIR HUGA NS requested Ms. Conerton state her association
with the | egislature.

M5. CONERTON responded that she is the student body president at
UAS and Vice Chair for the Coalition of Student Leaders.

SENATOR G ESSEL and Senat or Huggi ns t hanked Ms. Conert on.

3:40: 53 PM

LORA VESS, Ph.D., Assistant Professor, University of Al aska-
Sout heast, testified in strong opposition to SB 174. She rel ated
that she is neither for nor against gun ownership or use. She
mai ntained that institutions of higher learning are not the
appropriate setting to wage a battle over the right to possess
firearns. She said nmany of her students are struggling to find
their adult identity and to develop a sense of self. The bil
adds another potential wvariable into their transition from
adol escence to adul t hood.

She said she does not want to work in an environnent where there
may be concealed firearms in the classroom and students
shouldn't have to learn in one. She concluded that she is
concerned that the bill is ideologically driven with a narrow
conceptualization of freedom and liberty that has nothing to do
with the operations or needs of Al aska' s universities, or the
safety of the thousands of students, faculty, staff, visitors,
and mnors on Alaska canpuses. She said she stands in support
with the Board of Regents, United Students of UAS, Student
Servi ces Council of UA, and ot hers.

3:44: 20 PM

COLIN OSTERHQUT, representing hinself, testified in opposition
to SB 174. He said he works for UAS and believes that the bil
is a hasty attenpt to pass legislation that is due to personally
hel d beliefs, done so without sufficient research or advice from
the university system He said he is a gun owner who does not
feel that firearns belong on canpus and that they stifle the
free, creative expression of ideas. He maintained that UAS is a
special small comunity and energy and tine should be spent on

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE - 5- February 18, 2016



fostering that community, and to reach out to students who may
be struggling. He suggested addressing security concerns in
other ways. He shared his experience at Virginia Tech and said
he can envision where the shootings occurred. He concluded that
SB 174 is m sqgui ded.

SENATOR GARDNER thanked M. GOsterhout for his emnils and for
testifying in person.

3:47:46 PM

PAUL SWETZOVF, representing hinself, testified in support of SB
174. He said the wuniversity cannot have a law that is nore
restrictive than the state's law. He maintained that al
Al askans have the constitutional right to bear arnms. He said
there has never been a mass shooting where firearns are all owed
on canpus. He referred to the Sandy Hook shooting and the |ack
of defense in that situation. He said he would like his son to
have a fighting chance if there were a shooting on canpus.

3:50: 52 PM

DAVI D WEAVER, representing hinself, testified in opposition to
SB 174. He said even as a Republican and a gun owner he cannot
support the bill. As the Director of University Housing on the
Anchorage canpus, he said he sees students with nmental health
i ssues. He requested the commttee consider the potential side
effects from SB 174.

3:52:49 PM
GRANT REBNE, representing hinself, testified in support of SB
174. He suggested that the bill wll protect students on

uni versity canpuses. He provided personal exanples of when he
wi shed he had had a gun. He spoke of the increase in gun crinmes
and said that relates to the reduction in the right to carry.

3:55:35 PM

RYEN- JASON HENE, representing hinmself, testified in opposition
to SB 174. He shared his past and current roles working wth
students on canpus for fifteen years. He cited the nunber of
student nental health issues as a reason not to allow guns on
canmpus. Allowi ng guns on canpus is a step backward in supporting
education in Alaska. As of Decenber 14, 2015, the Anerican
Association of College and University had over 400 individual
colleges in 42 different states that signed statenents against
al l owi ng guns on col | ege canpuses.

3:57:28 PM

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE - 6- February 18, 2016



SENATOR GARDNER asked for nmor e i nformati on about t hose
statistics.

MR. HENE shared the website keepgunsoffcanpus.org for that
i nformation.

3:58: 22 PM

GEORG A DEKEYSER, representing herself, testified in strong
opposition to SB 174. She spoke of her job as UAA' s director of
the Student Health and Counselor Center. As an RN she said she
has worked with students who were suicidal and who had nental
health issues. She said suicide and honmicide are directly
correlated. She concluded by saying the university police are
avai l abl e for student safety.

3:59: 39 PM

SANDI E G LLI LAND, representing herself, testified in support of
SB 174. He said he works at the Kenai Peninsula College and
would |ike to have nore protection on canpus. He shared the
"run, hide, fight" plan for when there is a shooter situation on
canpus. He said he opposes the Board of Regents' policies. He
suggested two anendnents to SB 174, requiring a concealed carry
permt and excluding dornms from conceal ed carry zones.

4:02: 36 PM

STEPHANI E QUEEN, representing herself, testified in opposition
to SB 174. She shared that she volunteers at Kenai Peninsula
Col | ege. She nmmintained that mnmany crinmes on canpus are
correlated with access to guns. She called the Board of Regents'
current policy, neasured and thoughtful, and it allows for
student access to have guns on canpus. She said the policy keeps
peopl e safe so the university can focus on its core mssion of
educati ng Al askans.

4:04:20 PM
VICE CHAIR HUGA NS listed people that are available for
guesti ons.

4:04:52 PM

TOM BQOUTIN, representing hinmself, testified in support of SB
174. 1t brings the university into conpliance with state |aw
He thought the sponsor was willing to work with the university.

4:06: 40 PM
SENATOR STEVENS asked for Chief Mallard s opinion of the bill.

4:07:35 PM

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE -7- February 18, 2016



KEI TH MALLARD, Chief of Police, University of Al aska Fairbanks

testified in opposition to SB 174. He said he has many concerns
about how the bill is currently witten and is hopeful about the
sponsor's willingness to work with the university. The proposed
amendnents nmay nake it workable. He did not believe that nore
guns on canpus would nmake it safer, but would increase calls for
police service, whether it be for unlawful discharge or other
firearm access probl ens.

4:08: 57 PM
SENATOR GARDNER asked what the average response tine for canpus
police is.

CH EF MALLARD sai d about 2.5 mnutes on the Fairbanks canpus.

SENATOR GARDNER asked if the officers have had training for
active shooters and rapid response.

CH EF MALLARD said yes. They actively coordinate with other |aw
enforcenment agencies to develop response plans and they offer
violent intruder training for all on canpus. They no |onger
focus exclusively on mass killing events, because violence is
nore likely than the reality of a shooter.

4:11: 09 PM
SENATOR G ESSEL provided a hypothetical exanple of an assault
and asked when the response tine woul d begin.

CHI EF MALLARD said fromthe point they are notified.
SENATOR G ESSEL said after the event occurs.

SENATOR GARDNER gave an exanple of a stalker and a victim and
asked whether the victimls safety is inproved by both having a
weapon.

CH EF MALLARD said the question is do firearns, in and of
t hensel ves, nmake sonebody safer. He said you could nmeke the
argunent that soneone well-trained with a firearm is safer.
However, in current law, there is no requirenment for training
for concealed carry. He opined that having access to a firearm
does not neke you safer; being trained on how to use that
firearmdoes add a | evel of safety.

4:12:59 PM
JON QUI NONES, Student, University of Al aska-Fairbanks, testified
in opposition to SB 174. He said he also serves on the student

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE - 8- February 18, 2016



government. He nmintained that rights are not absolute, they are
conditional. He thought "heroes" mght create nore casualties
He pointed out that sexual abuse is a problem at the university
and he suggested that sanctioned weapon carries would not help
the situation

4:15: 26 PM

M KE COONS, representing hinself, testified in support of SB
174. He said all those that he knows who carry conceal ed have
had training. He said gun-free zones have nore shootings and the
nost casualties, as conpared to zones where guns are allowed. He
spoke of rape on canpus and said those who are unarned are prey
and victinms. Alaskans outside canpus are all arned so no one
should be afraid of them He concluded that 2 to 29 canpuses are
armed and none have had stabbi ngs or shooti ngs.

4:18: 07 PM

RUSSELL NEWELL, representing hinmself, testified in opposition to
SB 174. He provided an exanple of a gun-free canpus in Utah
where the university police could not protect a speaker.

4:20: 36 PM

MAUREEN O HANLON, representing herself, testified in opposition
to SB 174. She reported that in her job as a tutor at the Sitka
Student Success Center she works with students between the ages
of 14 to 18 on canpus. She said guns on canmpus wll not protect
students and strangers with guns are not security officers.

4:22: 05 PM

CYRUS COOPER, representing hinmself, testified in support of SB
174. He thought that training should be regulated for conceal ed
carry. He said citizens should take action to protect others
during active shooter situations, not police. He said UAF did
not even have a police chief years ago. He naintained that
students are adults and the university should suspend students
wi th probl ens.

4:24:58 PM

D XIE HOOD, representing herself, testified in opposition to SB
174. She shared her |ong experience as a counsel or. She spoke in
favor of the rules that prevent concealed carry on canpus
because they provide a safe canpus for students, faculty, staff,
and others. She said the bill is a horrifying proposal and woul d
create a high risk environment on all UA grounds. Students are
still devel oping and they sonetines feel inpervious to risk. The
bill is a political pro-gun proposal, not a constitutional right
bill.

SENATE EDC COWM TTEE - 9- February 18, 2016



4:27:31 PM

BRUCE SCHULTZ, Vice Chancellor, Student Affairs, University of
Al aska- Anchorage, testified in opposition to SB 174. He said he
has the responsibility, for the past 24 years, of overseeing
st udent life operations, including on-canpus residential

communities, physical and nental health services, student
activities, and the student code of conduct. He shared that he
has been involved in nore than 1,000 incidents the past 24
years, including verbal and physical assaults, harassnents and
di sruptions in the classroom suicides, and grossly intoxicated
individuals. He stated that he cannot think of one of those
i ncidents that would have been better managed by the presence of
a conceal ed weapon. He said he knows, based on his professiona

background and training, that hundreds of those incidents would
have escal ated and required a nuch nore aggressive response from
university officials and |aw enforcenent if weapons were
present .

He said the university allows weapons on canpus in a way that is
reasonable. The regulations are in a category where firearns are
restricted in sensitive places and are presunptively l[awful and
outside the constitutional protections.

He pointed out that suicide is the second |eading cause of death
for college students and thousands nore attenpt suicide. He said
the lack of imediate access to a neans is the greatest
advantage his staff has for getting the student the intervention
they need. He said open access to firearns on canpus, especially
in residence halls and counseling centers, would worsen this
serious problem as suicide attenpts involving firearns are
al nrost always fatal. In the last tw years, there have been 18
suicide attenpts, 29 incidents of suicide ideation, and 42
i ncidences of assault, which includes donestic and dating
vi ol ence, on the Anchorage canpus.

He concluded that at a time when the university is focused on

getting nore students to graduate on tinme, SB 174 w Il detract
attention, consune nore of already constrained resources, and
for sone students, interfere with their ability to learn. The

overwhelmng majority of the 4,400 wuniversities in the US.
prohibit the carrying of firearns on their canpuses.

4:30: 06 PM

SENATOR GARDNER requested he send his witten testinony to the
conmittee.

SENATE EDC COW TTEE -10- February 18, 2016



MR. SCHULTZ said he would and that he has already sent a letter
to Chair Dunl eavy.

SENATOR STEVENS asked for nore information about "consum ng
resources. "

MR. SCHULTZ said the wuniversity trains and relies heavily on
student residency advisors who are 18-20 years old to nonitor
and confront the behavior of their peers. The introduction of
weapons into these high density and sonetines highly charged
living environments would nean that student advisors could no
| onger be the first line of intervention. The university wll
need to seriously consider adding trained |aw enforcenent
officers. The same could be said for the work that goes on in
t he health and counseling centers.

VICE CHAIR HUGEA NS shared a story of having a shotgun in his
room He asked if things have changed.

MR. SCHULTZ said the university does allow weapons on canpus in
a reasonabl e fashion

VICE CHAIR HUGA NS spoke of presumed guilt instead of presuned
i nnocence in policies for those who commt sexual assault.

4:33: 00 PM

MR. SCHULTZ | ooked at it differently. He said the university is
very concerned about incidents of sexual assault on college
canpuses. The investigation 1is not focusing on personal
protection at the tinme of the attack. Mst of the incidents
occur during dating violence and high intoxication. To be
effective in changing that culture on canpus, the university
provides information and prograns focusing on respect before
students even get to coll ege.

VICE CHAIR HUGA NS requested the university's witten policy on
sexual assault.

4:34:13 PM

ARNCLD LI EBELT, representing hinmself, testified in opposition to
SB 174. He thought the system had failed in order to get to this
point in society. He said guns are inherently dangerous and
humans are inherently unpredictable and to put the two together
on college canpuses is a bad idea. He understood the intent of
the bill, but thought putting nore guns into the hands of people
on canpuses was nhot going to solve the problem but conplicate
it. He did not understand the analogy of "bad guys wth guns."

SENATE EDC COW TTEE -11- February 18, 2016



If the problemis that there are too nmany guns in the hands of
bad people, the solution is to get the guns away from them He
said that 19 states have passed this type of legislation. He
suggested not rushing to join that group. He concluded that he

considers the bill to be "state overreach.” Universities
understand this issue very well, and if they are not on board
the bill should not pass.

4:37:14 PM

TI MOTHY ROBI NSON, representing hinself, testified in opposition
to SB 174. He pointed out that the comrittee has heard a
resoundi ng "do not pass this bill." He thought the bill would be
defeated if everyone could vote on it. He said that maybe
faculty should be allowed to have guns, but students do not need
to be running around with guns on campus. Young people are prone
to swings of enpotion. He shared that his son comm tted suicide.

4:38:48 PM

MATTHEW OSTRANDER, representing hinself, testified in opposition
to SB 174. He said he is vice president of the Union of
Students, the recognized governnment organization at UAA He
stated opposition to concealed carry when there are K-12
students on col |l ege canpuses. He gave exanples of when students
are on canpus, such as for drama, debate, and forensics
tournanents. He suggested adding an anmendnent to the effect that
conceal ed carry cannot be in areas where K-12 students are.

4:40: 42 PM
SENATOR GARDNER asked if it is practical to exclude conceal ed
carry on canpus when there are K-12 programs on canpus

MR. OXANDER thought there could be areas that are set apart,
such as elimnating specific areas and certain buildings from
concealed carry. He agreed it could nmean a conplete ban of
conceal ed carry.

4:42: 16 PM
At ease

4:43:58 PM

JOE BYRNES, Staff, Representative Kell ey, Al aska State
Legi slature, provided information regarding SB 174. He said the
section of the bill regarding civil inmunity was suggested by
the university. He noted there were two people available to
answer questions.

SENATE EDC COW TTEE -12- February 18, 2016



SENATOR STEVENS referred to line 19 on page 2 of the bill and

asked how the university would be imune fromcivil liability.
4:45: 50 PM

MATT COOPER, GCeneral Counsel, University of Al aska-Fairbanks,
addressed the civil inmunity issues in SB 174. He said there is

nothing to prevent soneone from filing a |awsuit against the
university. The university maintains that an inmmunity provision
in the statute could result in a nove to dismss - an
affirmati ve defense and an absolute bar to the litigation. He
offered to prepare a nmeno on that issue.

4:47:21 PM
SENATOR GARDNER spoke of Iliability waivers not holding water.
She asked if an imunity is granted in statute it is different.

MR. COOPER replied it would be different; it is simlar to
immunities found in Title I X and in the Good Sanmaritan Act which
are nore effective than a liability waiver.

4:48. 45 PM
SENATOR GARDNER asked how effective it would be - 100 percent or
havi ng sone ri sk

MR. COOPER could not say it would be 100 percent effective.

4:49:18 PM
At ease

4:49: 48 PM
VICE CHAIR HUGE NS noted nore testifiers online.

JAMVES SQUYRES, representing hinself, testified in support of SB
174. He said the gun-free zone is unconstitutional and is a kill
zone. He said the average gun fight is 2.5 seconds. Students
should be trusted with this right.

4:51:14 PM

NEAL KOENEMAN, Student, UAA, testified in opposition to SB 174.
He said he does not feel safe at a canmpus where, to be just as
safe as the next person, he has to be arned all the tine. He
stated that if he was to carry a handgun, he would not trust
hi nsel f or other students to use a gun in a fire fight.

4:52:21 PM

HAYLEY CAVI TT, Student, UAA, testified in opposition to SB 174.
She voiced concern that faculty nenbers would be put at risk

SENATE EDC COW TTEE -13- February 18, 2016



under this bill as they often have to deal with unruly students.
She said she would hate to see them | eave the university because
they feared for their own lives.

VICE CHAIR HUGE NS kept public testinony open and held SB 174 in
comm ttee.

4:54: 08 PM

There being no further business to conme before the commttee,
Vice Chair Huggins adjourned the Senate Education Commttee at
4:54 p. m

SENATE EDC COW TTEE -14- February 18, 2016



